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sglstntnt AGREED STATEMENT OF FACTS,
"of Faots,
Filed Deec. 18, 1902
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The State of Texas ) In the 26th, Judieclal Distriet Court

No. 17090, ve. )
F. P. Olocott et al. ) of Travis County, Texas, at Austin,

Be it r red that on the trial of the above en-
titled ocause, the following is all of the materlal evidence
introduced on the trial of sald cause, to-wli!

Plaintiff introdused the following, to-wit: The
certified copy of certificate and field nofes; the certified

gopy of field notes of the surveye sued for in this cause, and

it is not necessary to further desoribe them, except that they
are shown also in the agreement of parties introduced on trial
of said cause, which is as follows, to-wit!

For the purpose of the trial of this cause the follow-
ing faots are agreed upon by the parties to this sult:
Certificates 43/5543, 43/55hk, 43/5545, L3/55h6, 43/5547, L3/5725
and 43/5764, were issued to the Houston & Texas Central Rallway
Company under the provisions of the Aet of January 3lst. 1854,
¥An Aet to encourage the construction of rallroads in Texas by
donations of lands," on the 9th, day of January, 1873, and were
located, respectively July 1873 upon surveys Nos, 81, 83, 85,

87, 89, 4hS and 523, in Block 97, H. & T. C. Ry, landsj des-
eribed in plaintiff's petition; which said lands lle in the
counties of Mitchell, Scurry and Borden, as atated in the ex-
hibit to plaintiff's petition,

8aid oertificates were located and surveyed July 1873
by the surveyor of Jaok Land Distriet, and the field notes there-

23. of were returned to the General Land Office November 18, 1873.
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Certificates 45/6077, 45/6078, U45/6079, W45/6080,
b5/6081, 45/6082, 45/6083, ana 45/6084, were issued by the
Commissioner of the General Land Offlee to the Houston &

Texas Central Ry. Co. on the 10th. day of Jamuary, 1873, under
the provisions of the Aot of Jamuary 31let. 1854, "An Aot to
encourage the construction of raillroads in Texas by donations
of lands," and were located, respectively, July 1873 upon

eye Nos., 629, 631, 633, 635, 638, 639, 641, and 643, in
block 97, H. & T. 0, Ry. Co, lands described in plaintiff's
petition; sald loeations and surveys were made by the suwrveyor
of J';tnk Land District, July 1873, and field notes thereof ro-
turned to the General Land Office on November 20th, 1873,

Each and all of sald certificates were lssued for
53 miles and 4160 feet of mein track and 2 miles and 721 feet
ur'lidinﬁn from Corsicana in Navarre County to Dallaa in Dallas
County; and also 31 miles and 3420 feet of maln track and hoo2
feet of lidingﬁ from Dallas in Dallas CGounty to MeEinney in
Collin County, making in all 88 miles and 2643 feet of roads,

For surveys or sections Nos. 81, 83, 85, 87, 89, bis
and 523 as stated in the aforesald exhibit, no patente have
issued; for surveys 629, 631, 633, 635, 637, 639, 641 & 643
as shown in the aforesald exhibit, patents were lssued to the
H. & T, D, Ry. Co. on May 15%h. 1889,

On the 10th. day of May, 1873, Robert M, Elgin, as
agent for the Haultuh & Texas Central Railway Company, delivered
to W. A. Benson, surveyor of Jaeck Land Distriot, two hundred
Lend Certificates issued by the Commissioner of the General
Land Office to the Houston and Ta:au.cantrnl Railway nanptnr'
on the 10th, day of January, 1873, numbered from 45/6037 to
k5/6236 and at the same time delivered to the sald Burveyor

his file upon certain vacant lands, describing the same by
metes and bounds, a certified copy of which said Tile with




the certiflcate of the said Benson ie hereto attached, marked
YExhibit A%, and made a part of the faote herein agreed to.

There 1s also on file in the General Land Office a
certain recelipt, signed by the said Benson, surveyor of Jaok
Land Distriet, a certified eopy of which marked "Exhibit BY
is hereto attached, and made a part of the faotg herein agreed
to, subjeat to legal objection as beilng immaterial and irrels-
vant,

It 1s agreed that the certified map or sketeh issued
by the Commissioner of the Genersl Land Office Octobey 2nd, 1901
and marked *Exhibit C" ghows correctly the limits of the Elgin
File on May 10th, 1879 herein referred to} and the looation of
the sald several surveys of land desoribed in plaintiffis Do-
titlon, with reference to the limits or boundaries of the satd
file,

It is agreed that surveye 81, 83, 8%, 87, 89, 4us
and 523 desoribed in the exhibit to plaintiff's petition are
¥within the limite of the aforesaid Elgin file, and that surveys
629, 631, €33, 635, 637, 639, 6b1, and 643, deseribed in the
exhiblt to plaintiff's petition are, and were at the date of
the sald file, outside of the limits and boundaries of the
aforesaid Elgin file of May 10th, 1873, but this does not re-
clude defendants from showing said map to be incorrect or that
1t 1o admissible or binding on defendants,

It 1s agreed that each and all of the defendants here-
in hold, and olaim title to, said land, under and by virtue of
sald loeations, surveys and patents herein referved to.

Elther party to this agreement may introduce any
other evidence not embraced in this agreement, subjlect to auch
legal objectlions and exaeptions as may be properly made thereto,




T: 8. Reeos e,
Assistant Attorney CGaneral, Counsel for
the plaintiff.
T. D, Cobbam,
For 0Oleott & Tyust Companles,
Aahby 8, Jame s,
s R X4im n§h @ n,
Qounsel for Defendants.

Plalintiff next offered copy from Genl, Land Offloce
of file made by R, M Elgin as agent of the H. & T, 0, Ry. Co,
on May 10th, 1873, as followsl-

B 5588 Fan.
To the Surveyor of Jack Districti

By virtue of 200 gertificates lasued hy the Commission-
er of the General Land 0ffice to the Houston and Texas Central
Rallway Company on the 10th, day of Jany. 1873 numbered from
48/6037 to 45/6236 inclusive I hereby enter and file uvon the
following vacant lands in your distriet, to-witi

In Young Dietrlet on the waters of the Colorado and
the Double Mountain Fork of the Brazos, Beglnning on the line
between Bexar and Young Distriet where it strikes the Weat
boundary of Blook No, 26 survey for the H, & T, 0. R, ¥, Co.
Thenoe with the Weet boundary of sald Block and Blook No, 25
made for the same corpany to the N, W, corner of nm' latter.
Thenece Eagt about 20 miles to the W, boundary of an entry made
for the H, & G, N, R, R, Company by MNelson. Thenoe N, with
gald boundary %o its N, ¥, corner (about 4 mi,) Thence EZast
with North bourndary of sald entry to the West houndary of
Blook No., 2 made for the H, & T. ¢, R, R, Co, near the N, ¥,
aorner of Sectlon No, 235 of sald Blook, Thence N, 15 ¥, with
the west line of Block No, 2 about 3 miles to its N. ¥. corner,
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Thenoe N. 75 E. 9 miles to the N, E. gorner of survey Yo,
276 Blook No, 2 made for the H, & T, 0, R, ¥, Jo, Thence
. 8 miles, Thenoe W, for quantity, Thence B, to the Dis-
triet line. Thenee B, to the plage of beginning, Exeluding
all valid subaleting flles, entries and surveys.

Rob%, M, Elgin.

The original flle of which the above L8 a copy
togger with the certifiocates therein named vere filed in
my office this 10th, day of MHay, 1873, teo which I oertify,
Page 115 Book A,

W, A, Benaen.
Dy B8 L By

Endorsed: & ) File 5588, Fannin Seript, H. & 7T,
G, Ry, Go. Appiloation. Filed Feby. 15/89. R. Q. Shelbey,
Chlef 01k, §1.00 (9)

General Land Office, Auatin, Texas, Sept, 27, 1901,

I, Charles Rogan, Commimsioner of the General Land
Gffice of the S8tate of Texas, do hereby eeritify that the above
end Toregoing is a true and corrset sopy of the original, to-
gether with all the endorsements therein now on file in this
office,

In testimony whereof, I hereunte set my hand,
gt and affix the seal of sald offlce the date
las® above written,
Charles Rogan,
Commisaloner, General Land Office.

The plaintiff also introduced certified coples of
the gertificates issued to the Houston and Texas Central Rail-
way Gnmpgny whioh 18 likewise shown in the foregolng agreement,
except that sald certificates were dated prior to March, 1873,

.
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Plaintliff then introduced fils mede by Mr, Elgin
dated August Sth, 1872, as follovei-
To the SBurveyor of Young or Jack Land Distriet)

By virtue of (U0) PForty certificates ismued to
the Hougton and Texas Central Rallway Company by the Commisslon.
or of the General Land Office on the 1st. day of July, 1872,
numbered from 27/1601 to 27/1640 I hersby rile vpon and entar
the following vacant land in your district on the bheal waters
of the Colorado River) beginning at & peint twoe milea Bast of

i the N. E. corner of Burvey No. 170 (one hundred and seventy)
 Block No, 25 made for the ssid H, & T, 0, Rallway Co. Thence

Veat to the N, E, corner of ea2lf survey., Thenoe with the Fast
1ine of said Block No, 25, end Blook No, 20 to the 8, E, corner
of survey lo. 1, Blk, No, 25. Thenoe East to the N. E, corner
of survey No, 1, Block Ve, 26, H, & T, C, Reilway, Thence
South to the 8. B, corner of survey No, 120, Blk, No, 26,
Thence Zast to the N, E, corner No, 121, Bik, 26, Thenoe
North & West so as to avold the Reservation of the M, E, P, &
Paelfic Rallroad to the beginning.

Rob%, M, Flgin,

land Agt, H, 4T, 0. R, ¥,
August 5S5th, 1872,

The original entry of which the foregolng is a copy,

was filed in my office this 5th, of August, 1872,
E. Boon,
Surveyor Jack Land District,

( &%) Pile 6792, Fannin Seript., H., & T. C, Ry, Co.
Application. Filed Feb., 15/89. R. 0, Shelley, Chief Clerk.
2/15/89. Shelley. 75¢ ( T ). 8. 6792.

General Land Office, Austin, Texas, April 5, 1902,

I, Charles Rogan, Commissioner of the General Land

28. Office of the State of Texas, do hereby certify that the above
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and foregoing le a true and gcorreot copy of ths original, to-
gether with all the sndorsements thereon now on file 1n this
office,
In testimony whereof, I hereunto set my hand,
end affix the seal of sald ofTlee the date
last soove written,
Charleas Rogan,
Oomnisaloner, General Land Office.

el et e ) e a——

Counsel for plaintiff then introduced in evidence
certified copy of sketch No, I sertificate dated Oct. 2nd,
1901, being the same gketch referred to in the agreement herein
a8 Exhibit C. By agreement of the parties and order of the
Court this sketch is not copled herein but is to be sent up
to the appellate Court with this record in this case as a part
of same,

Defendant objeoted to its admission because it did
not purport to be a copy of a map in use or on file in the
General Land Office, but purports to be made from data in the
Land Office with a view of proving the delineations of a reser-
vation upon a sketch bearing date February 5, 1902, and does
not show it to be a copy of an original map on file and in use
in the Generszl Land Office at the date when the sald reservation
vué oreated and vhen same purportg to have been delineated upon
the map, The egald reservation itself a: delineated upon the
map @eems to be a conelusion of the Land Commisaloner and repre-
gents merely that 1t is the northern boundary of the Texas and
Pacific Reservetion, The date that the act of the Leglislature
became a law is merely a conclusion of the Land Commissioner,
as both the law and the time when 1t became the law are matters
of judieial knowledge and not of faot. All of sald sketch

29, shows same to be a coneluasion of the Land Commissloner as to
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the facts and le not a sketeh of the fagts az they exicled
in the land offloce and upon maps in use in the Land Offlce,
The first requisite of any map 18 that 1%t must be an archive
of the Land Office in use in ths Land Office., If the offloer
who made the designation is living the Lest evidence of that
faet must be the testimony of the llving witness, uniess =
Judgment, pexfect in 1teell, showa the faet. If the map
showed when the deelgnatlion was made in the Land O0fflce a
certified oopy of 1% would be admissible, but this certifi.
eatey in the absence of proof showing when it was made, io
net admisalible. Objeotion overruled and defendants exeeptod
and tenders this -as his bLLL of exoeptien,

1alntif? next lotroduced certified copy of map from
Ganl, Land Office, certifiocate dated Feby. 5th, 1902, marked
nap He, 2, wvhich was ohjeoted to on the asme grounds urged to
nap No. 1, which were overruled ani exeepted to, and this map
ie also by agreement and order of the Court to be gent up with
the regerd An this case, as a part of the Statement of Facta,

LOUIS 0, ¥ I8 E, witness for plaintiff, sworn,
taatifled:

My name la Louls O, Wise, I hold the poelitlon of
Ordef Draughtsman in the Genersl Land Office and have held 1t
for the laat eight yeara. Some time previous to that time I
had been employed in the Land O0ffioe 28 compiling draughtsman
for seven years, I have the original of the map of which that
map i8 & sketoh, so far aes 1t zhows the territory in dispute,
This map was filed in June, 1873, and has been in use ever
since,

Defendants objeset to the admission of this anawer
for the reason that the date of the map itself does not show
the date when the reservation was placed upon the map; the
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delineasion 18, in faot, 4delineated in 1853, as shown in the
Dillingham essej and bDecause there i1s no evidenve tc shov when
the delineztion wee made upon the mep; and bessuge the wmap
gpoaks for iteelf and the testimony is hearsay. Objection
oeverruled and defenfant excepted to the ruling of the gourt
and Senders thlis his bill of exocaepiien,

I don't know when 1t was filed as & matter of fael,
of my own knowledge. I don't know from my own personal knowledge,
exoept Crom thies date, how long the mep has been in uge in the
Ganoral Land 0ffice; I have seen it there for the last elght
yeara, It comea from the Land Offies as an orlglnal map,

Plaintiff introdused in evidence the original referred
t0 above map, purporting to be made in June, 1873, and every-
thing eontained in it, over the objectlon of defendants, which
wag overruled by the Court, DNefendants axcepted for same roasons
as foregoing and tender this his bill of exseption, This bheing
an original map on file in the L4, 0ffica, it 19 agreed by the
partles with gonsent of Court, that the original map shall not
be filed but that a copy thersof duly certified should be sube
gtituted for original and sent up with the regord az a part
herecf,

Q. That map introduged, called Map No. 2, is a copy
from this map of the territory in dlspute - the map you have
Just testiflied about. A, Yes,

Q. Please compare Map No., 1 with Map Ve, 2, and
say how the Northern line of the Texas and Paciflie reservation
as delineated on No, 1 compares with the northern line of the
reservation as delineated on No, 2, and show how the surveys
in dispute correspond with the loeation of the Texas and Paclflc
Reservation, A, {The Comparison was made by the witness
pointing out on the map the matters inquired about, with verbal

1. explanations which the reporter was lnstruected to omlt from

-
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the record.)

Defendanta objected, because it is incompetent
ofr witnes to show by maps any particular position that one
survey occuples with respect to another} and because 1t is
a conolusion of the witness, and a matter for the Court to
ascertaln from the facts before it, and the witness hae not
shown himself competent to testify, not having run the lines
or done anything to enable him to correctly place and delineate
the same on the maps,

The objeetion was sustained, the Court remarking
that 1t was not admissible because it was testimony as to
matters to be determined by the Court from all the evidence.

Q. VWhere 1s the north line of the Texas & Pacifle
reservation?

Defendants object for the reason that the map
gpeaks for Aiteelf,

The Court: I don't know that I understand exactly
the theoryof the State in introduecing this evidence. Are you
seeking to show by maps that these partlcoular surveye are within
that boundary?

Counsel for plaintiff: Yes, sirj that these surveys
are within the reservation between the north and south lines,
We show the location with reference to the north line, and it
becomea immaterlal where the south line was, There 1s nothing
to show the distance from this point to this point on the map,
and therefore it 1s necessary to show this line to know where
theee surveys came,

The map was admitted in evidence over the objection
of defendants and they now tonder this as thﬂir bill of ex-
geption thereto.

Counsel for plaintiff: We wish to show that the

32. line delineated in 1873 on the map of 1873 corresponds to
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£

this line as dellineated on Map Ne. 1, because it 18 neces-
sary to show how the surveys are located in reference to that
1line,

Q. Examine these two maps. 8State how the northern
line of the Texas and Paclfle reservation as shown on Map No,
2, oorresponds with the same l1line as shown on map No, 1,

A, The Northern line of the Texas & Pacific reser-
vation showa on Map No, 2 made in 1873 appears to be two and
one elghth miles north of the same line as delineated on Map
No. 1, (Witness further testified about other distances and
surveys by polnting them out, with verbal explanations, which
the reporter was directed to omit from the record,)

Q: I want to read the boundaries here of the Elgin
file of the 10th of May, 1873. Show the Court where that is
on that map,. |

Defendants object to the admission of any testimony
about the location of surveys, except the position as oscoupled
at time survey was made with reference to where the reservatlon
was then delineated on the map in the Land Office. The ob-
Jection was overruled and defendants then and there excepted,
and thender this their bill of exception,

Counsel for plalntiff: The map is introduced to
show the northern line of the Texas & Paciflc reservation,

We want to show where the Elgin file is with reference to this
map. The agreement is that thies shows the Elgin file, but we
want the witness to point it out (reads the oalls of the field
notes), The surveys sued for from 629 to 643, both inoclusive,
are up here as shown by the testimony of the witness, lying east
of the boundary of this file.

Q. Have you a map showing the location of the
Memphis, El Paso & Pacific reservation? A, Yes,

Plaintiff introduced in evidence, in connection with




3.

the testimony of the witness, an original old map from the
General Land Office, compiled, showing the designation of
the center and north and south lines of the Memphis, El Paso
& Paclfie reservation, filed in the General Land Office De-
cember 17th., 1858 by Robert M. Elgin, Chief Clerk. This

map being an original from the Land Office 1a agreed with
consent of the Court that a certified copy be filed and sent
up with the record as a part hereof, :

Defendants objected to the admission of thig map
Tor the reason stated in the foregoing objeotion; the objection
vas overruled, defendante excepted for the same reason and
here tender this thelr bill,

@« Is there anything there by which you ocan de-
termine where that line is with reference to thegse surveys
on this map (pointing to another map).

Defendants object, because 1t 18 an opinion of the
witness, who 18 not qualified to speak; objesotlon is overruled
and defendants except and tender this their bill.

Q@ Is this the North line of Mitohcll County, ae-
eording to this map, A. Yes,

Q. This 18 the South line of Seurry County? A, Yes,
This 18 an original map in use in the Land Office.

Counsel for plaintiff: We have shown how these
lande lie in reference to the northern line of the Texas and
Paglfliec reservation, but in order to be certain and leave the
matter entirely beyond dispute, we wish to show how they lie
with reference to the sixteen mile reservation of the Memphis,
El Paso & Paegifie Railroad,

Q. This is Mitchell County, Show how this line
runs with reference to Mitchell County. A. (The witneas points
out on the map).

The North line of the old Memphis, El Paso & Pacific
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35.

reservation as shown by the offielsl map of Mitchell County
in gonnection with the sketeh introduced showing the dellnea-
tlon of the Memphls, El Paso & Pacifio reservation, is four
miles south of the north boundary line of Mitchell,

Defendants objeot, hecause it is a coneclusion of
the witness, and for the same reasona stated in the foregoing
objections, Objeetions overruled and defendats except and
tender this thelr bill,

Q. How long has this map been in use in the Land
0ffice? | |

A. It was made in Daaﬁmhcr, 1889, 1t is the of-
ficlial map of Mitchell County now in use in the General Land
Office.

Defendants renew their objections} and further ob-
Jeot, because the map was made in the land office and long
years after the rights of the parties acorued; and because
i% lamerely ain opinlon of the draughtsman, Objegtion over-
ruled and defendants except and tender this their bill,

Plaintiff introduced then the map of Mitchell County
over the defendants objection. This being an original map
from sald Land Office by agreement of parties and consent of
the Court a certified copy is to be filed and sent up with
the feuard as part of this statement of facts, Witness further
testiflied with reference to the maps that the squares repre-
senting eseatlions were each one mile square, each side repre-
senting one mile on the mapu.'

Upon eross examination by Counsel for defendant
Wise testifled that h@ formerly lived in Abllene, Texas, and
wag & witness in the gase of Wilson we, Dillingham, cited in
the Court of Appeals,

The witness was asked Af 1t was not generally known
in the Land Office by him and others connected with it, that
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36.

the maps introduced in evidence were not correct in reference
to the reservation and the 100th. meridian., In answer he
stated that there was a misunderstanding about 1t. He was
then asked, Vas it not generally understood that it was not
correctly delineated, His answer was, No, Bir; it is now,
yeg elr. The hundredth meridian was attempted %o be satab.
lished & number of years ago, but I don't suppoge it was
correctly establlished until proper observations were sgecured
at Abilene. These maps do not attempt to show the true posi-
tion of it. It is possible to delineate correctly the reser-
vations on these maps and show how the lands are loosted,
from the center line of the Memphle, El Paso & Pscifioc reser-
vation, because 1t is defined by etatute and surveyed. I do

not remember the year, think about 1873} do not remember whether

. after, Do not know that those surveys in question are excessive;

there are 2 great meny things that I am in charge of that I do
not know, My dutiee in the land office ares tc sunerintsnd

the work in the draughting department, Do not know that any
of the surveys have been re-surveyed or are excessive, All
witnees knows 1s what the map showsj don't know who put it
there} suppose it was some offielal, Don't know that therse
are maps of Seurry, Fisher and Borden of 1853. Do not know
of any map prior to 1853, Remember seeing at Abilene a map
showing the east line of the one hundredth meridian; tha north
and south 1lines were put on from the map of Taylor of 1858;
that map wa? in use, The law requires us to designate the
one hundredth meridian and the north and south lines, I wae
not an offielial then; that was on the map of 1853. Twenty
years after the reservation was oreated that was put there
after it was oreated. Do not know how many old maps this
reservation is shown on, These were the most ancient land.
marks I found; this map of 1873. I don't remember seaing it
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en the map of 1B72; don't know there wae such a map of that
territory. I don't remember how many times there have been
changes of this reservation} don't know of any. The maps
show some lLittle variations in respect to the reservation

at different plsaces} about two and one-eilght miles, I didn't
survey elther of the lines; I don't suppose anybody has ever
surveyed the north boundary eof the elghty mile reservation,

Q. Ie the file (Elgin file) placed upon that map
by aoctual survey or by approximation?

A, The survey intended to survey 1t subsesquently.
Witness was asked if he knew whether the distance of the file
(Elgin file) was correctly represented by actual survey or
by ealculation in tﬂa land offlce, the course from east to
west, He answered I would have to compare them oclosely, have
the draughtsman check them to see that they keep within the
boundlaries of their designation,

Q. The Tile you resd running from east to weat,
or from weat to east, if you llke, there 1s nothing %o indi.
cate that this ground was plotted within the f'ile in ascordance
with any aetual survey on the ground? Is it not an aprroxima.
tion?

A, It 1s not an spproximation} it is an sotual
survey to keep the thing within the limits,

Q. To do that on the ground, can you tell from
the reading of the flle the formatlon of these surveys, the
oalls for the different surveys, whether or not the astual
surveys would put these surveys within the file, thoze you
elaim to be outslde the file, that the State glaima?

A, Those would be outside the designation.

Q. Ard would not that depend upon the acouracy
of the surveys on the ground, whether these would be outside

57. or in, or the file would be here or hera?
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A, I think so; it could not be shown otherwise
without a survey.

Qs In other worde the true position of this ground
with reference to the flle eould not be accurately shown withe
out 2 survey?

A, No, it could not. Agk me that qusstion agalinj
let me answer 1%, I oould state it could be; we could project
the delineation and survey 1t on paper as well as on the ground.
Should the survey be made on the pground 1t would agree with
the paper plat, which 18 more correat than a man oan survey
on the ground, I can take a designation of ten miles @quare
and survey it more accurately on paper than on the ground.

Q. Then these surveys call for various other sur-
veys; Blook 26 No, 2 of the Great Northern reservation and
e2ll to run along the line of Ne., 2 & certain distance, ote.
A, Yes slr,

Qs All of the locative egalls or desoriptive calle
eall for oertaln data which iteelf must be correct before the
land embraced in the bounds can be acourately determined.

The Court: COounsel ia arguing with the witnesas
rather than ellelting testimony,.

Coungel for defendants: I want to show the want
of agouracy in the map,

The Couwrt rules that the question in inadmissible,
defendants except to the ruling cf the Court and tender this
their bill.

Upon re-dlreot examination by plaintiff witness
testified that the 23»rd, meridian west of Yashington and the
one hundredth meridian is the beginning; 1t 1s the ezstern
boundary of the reservation; this is sixty-old miles weat of

the 100th. meridian, Did not compare the mapj did not compile

it., It wae not complled; it was traced from data in the




29.

office, It was not compiled from maps of Scurry, Mitchell
and all the other counties, Those maps are on a 2000 vara
scale and this 1s on a 4000, The land in controversy 1s
about 50 or sixty miles west of the 29rd. meridian,

W S R S T e S S . W W

DEFENDANTS TEBTIMONEY,

Defendants then offer in evidsnoce regeipt from
W, A, Benson, surveyor of Jack Land Distriet, which is as
{ollowa, Sto-witie

Reo'd, Jackeboro, Jan, 31, 1873, of J, J. Dinkins,
the following land soript issued to the Houston & Texas Central
Railway Co to-wit: 42/5512 to 43/5561, inclusive; also
43/5562 to L4/5581 inclusive. 1300 certificates,

W. A, Benson.,
D, J. L. D.

Endorsed, 6) Flle 6623. Fannin Seript. H& T. C.
Ry. Co, Rec'pt. for Certs, Filed Feby. 18/93. VWm. Bramletts,
Ohf, OClk., 50¢., B, 6792. W, A, Benson's recelpt for certs.
Nos., 42/5512 to L4/5811, 6623,

The defendants then offered in evidence the map
and sketoh attached to the deposition of Geo. W. Polk and
J. E. Elgin and referred to by R. M. Elgin,

This map by agreement of nartlies with nonuﬁnt of
tiie Court is to be sent up with the record as a part of sanme.
Marked Exhibit A and as a part of this statement of facts.

Also offered in evidence two files made by R, M,
BElgin lntroduced by plalntiff as stated.

Defendants then read the depositions of the follove
ing witnessesai J, E, Elgin, Geo. W, Polk, €, C, Gibbs, and
R, ¥, Elgin, as followst- |




DEPOSITION OF WITNESS, J. BE. ELGIN,

I reside at Rockport, Texas., I am a lawyer,

Yes. I located land certificates for the sald
Company, the H., & T. C. Ry. Co.

I located Bloek 97 and did part of the surveying
in person. There was a file made a2nd I presume 1t to have
been in writing, ae I know of no other method in whioch 1%
could have been made. I have no copy of the flle and the
map attached to the answers of Geo, W, Polk, marked "Exhiblt
"A' has been examined by me and I 1dentify it a8 a copy of
the working map used by me, It shows the surveys numbered
from 1 to 956. Block 97 is intended to have been covered
by the file and the lands of Robert ¥, Elgin applied to me
to survey. It also shows Pacific Eusnﬁvatiun a2 it showed
on the Land Office maps when the flle was made.

Surveys 1 to 956 I, in connection with Geo, WV, Polk

and Geo, W, Angle, surveyed all of Bloek 97. Burveys Nos, 81,

83, 87, and 89 were surveyed by myself and Geo, W, Polk, on
the 16th, and 17th, of July, 1873. I think we establisched
the eorners on the ground te seversl of these surveys. On
the 16th, of July, I started at a point on the East line of
Block 97 as far Bouth as near the western terminus of the
genter line of the Memphis & Tl Paso 16 mile reservation

as delineated on the General Land Offlce maps, Mr, Polk
worked southward also, but west of me. We camped together
that night and the naxtlday vworked north and westward, fol-
lowing the course of the Colorasdo River, and covering all
the territory embraced in Surveye Nos, 81, 83, 87 and 89,
These were the first two days we worked on Block 97. The
work about Section 445, 1f my memory served me correctly,
was done by Geo, W, Ahgle, as he turned North on the same

day that Mr, Polk and myself turned South., Seetions 629,




k.

631, 633, 637, 639, 641 anda 643, Blook 97, were surveyed
prineiprlly by myself on the last day or two as we worked
on Blook 97, about August 3d. I had the »revious winter
put in the most northern corner of Bloek No, 3, a plle of
stone without bearings (1. e, near-by trees or natural
objeet; there may have been some distant mountain bearings),
and was the only cne who could hope to find the corner, so
did the work of making the comnnection, I think it was our
la2t day's work on 97,

Yes; that is, about all the lines on rivera and
oreeks were run, and many others, but not every line in
every seetion of the Blook, I ran one of the compsases,

I left Austin along about the lst. of June, with working
maps end notes of all nrevious surveys and the Paocifie
reservation as then delineated, a copy of the Nelson file;
1. e, the International & Great Northern Bloeck lying between
97 and No, 2, Houston & Texas Central Ry. Co.; and my own
notes of Blocks Nos, 2 and 3, made the previous winter.

Went tio Waco and started my party from there. Met Mr. Angle
and Mr, Polk with another seetion of the varty somewhere
west of Camp Colorado. Did some work in Runnels and Taylor
Gountlies., Then nroceeded to Block No, 2, Houston & Texas
Central Ry. and beginning at a corner I had eatablished on
that Bloock the previous winter, ran a line across the Nelson
file made for the Internationsl & Great Northern R, R. Co.,
to Bloek 97, where we mroceeded as detalled, We had five

ox wagons, several burros and thirty three men, some mounted
and some on foot. There were no settlements west of Camp
Colorade in Coleman County, no roads except the old abandoned
post of Ft. Chadbourne, We traveled slmost entirely acrose
the country which was open generally with little Aifficulty

except at the ereeks, where we had to make our own erossings.
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Horses, burros, and wagons were the only means of trans-
portation at that time, The country was generally opan
prairie, much freer from brush and meacuite than at the
present day. It took us over a month to get to Bloek 97,
but we 414 some work in Runnels snhd Taylor Countles. I

40 not knew where the reservation was merked on the Land
Office map., The 16 mile reservation, known, I believe
then as %Memphlie & Tl Paso Reservation® was degipnated

on the maps of the Land O0ffice ae far wegt as the Colorado
River, when I firet beeame famillar with its records in
1873. I do not remember seeing the 40 mile reservation,
or Texas & Pacifioc Reservations on the maps before the
latter part of 1873 or in 1874, If nlaced on the map prior
therete, I had no noties, I Ao not know who delineated
them, nor how many timea, T only know there wers gertifi-
eates deponlited with W, A, Benson, a2t Jackaboro to cover
gurveys by me, I do not know their number. As to the
nature of the file, or what became of the original, I know
nothing.

It took about three montha to make the trip; leas
than three weeks of actual work was done on Blook 97, Field
books containing full notee were kept in duplicate. From
these, after our return, working maps were made and the
field notes taken from this mep on file in the Land Office
and Surveyor's O0ffice, A map wae also made to file in each
of these offices, One set of our field booka, I think, was
deposited with the Houston & Texss Central Ry. Co.; another
set, the originals, was retasined each hy the surveyor making
them, Angle, Polk and myeelf. I kept mine for many years
but moet of them are now lost or destroyed, The working
map that we used I have recently seen and ldentified in
the offlice of Col, C. C, Gibba, and I identify the map




attached to the snewers of Geo, ¥, Polk to these interroga-
torise, marked "Exhibit A" ae a correot copy of the same,

I ocannot say Just when the field notes were filed
but it muet have been at least aes late as Cotoher, perhaps
Hovember, 1873,

In May, 1873, I was having working sketches nade at
the Land Offlce, The Reservation was designzted on the maps
of the CGenerel Land Offlce by three lines} one sounter line
and a parallel line to it on each side, North and South
elght miles from the center line, The oenter line extended
soross the Btate from Fast to the Colorade River, The North
line 4i4 not reach quite to the river, and the South line
I think orossed 1t, At the west end of these lines on the
Colorada, they were conneoted by a North and South lins
conneoting the thres linea and showing the terminus of the

Reservation,

We used a Burveyor compass, No allowanoce was made

for convergenee of meridlan lines, There was no actual sur-
vey made at that time west of the Colorado River, from which
the Land 0ffice oould have delinsated the Raservation.

All of Blook 97 was aotually surveysd upon the

ground before the reaservation went into effect. Including

the time regquired to take the fleld notes to Jacksboro and
have them aigned, nearly two months was required to draw up
the map and make out the field notes,

The last ssttlement of the line of ths present
Pa0lflec road was on Hubbard eoreek, There were even no cattle
23 far weat as Phanton Hill, or the present site of Abilene,
but an abundanee of buffalo and mustang horses, Ve saw the
128t white man at Camp Colorade and the first one on return
&t Fort Griffith., There were a good many Indlans in the
country, from wvhom we were not inolined to sesek information.




Qur only faocllities for locating older survoys and avoide
ing oonfliste, was the data taken from Austin, deseription
of country by older surveyors, and our own 2kill in finding
landmarke, The records in the Surveyor's 0ffice were meager
snd we depended on the General Land Offlce for data,

ANSYERS T0 CROBS INTERROGATORIES,

I know there wae one Tlle in writing by Rovert
H. Elgin prior to the middle of May, 1873, The Application
wag direoted %o W. A, Benson, Distriet Surveyor of the Young

Land Distriet. I don't know the exact calls of the file,
I don't know.the number of the certificates., There were
sbout 300 certificates in allj about 200 in the May file
and about 300 others had been previously flled, The file
was sent to .‘Ia.uklbu!;u.

L have no oopy of this file, After the location
of Blocks 2 and 3 by me in the winter of Y72 and '73, Rob't,
M. Elgin apvlied to me to locate 500 seotions mors for the
Houston & Texas Central Ry, on the upper waters of the Colo-
radeo anf Brazos west and North of Blocks 2 and 9, Mouston &
Texae Oentral Ry,, and a file was made to cover the territory.
1 discussed with Robert M, Elgin the territory to be covered
which was to De all the territory west of Blocks Z and 3,
end to follow along the Horth line of the M, & E, Reservation
to 1%te western terninue; then lap around it end to the South
an far as we found good country and prior surveys would permit.
Before the Tile was nade, we Aiscovered a file of the Inter-
naticnal & Great Northern Ry, covering part of this territory,
next to Blook 2, end left 1t out., My recollection is that
the Company had some certificates at Jaokebore to cover this
work, and 200 more were sent with a file early in May, I do
not remember any numbers of any certifiostes, or the calls




of the file or files, but do remember the territory R. M.
‘Elgin instructed me to survey,

I know nothing of the number of the certificates
to which surveys were applied, as I could not remember them
and have no data now by which %o go.

I do not remember the exaet calls of the file
or filee, do not know how many files were made nor the number
of the certificates, I was the deputy of Benson and did
the work in the fleld. My instruetion was to loecate 500
certificates, covering the territory shown on the map attached
to the answerse of Geo, W, Polk and marked "Exhibit A", I
dlsoussed the matter of the territory to be covered with
Robert M. Elgin and the surveys covered that territory.

And I used the certificates sent to Jacksboro at that time,
and others which I think were at Jacksboro, to eover the
work.,

Application was made to me as Benson's deputy, to
meke surveys for 500 Houston & Texas Central Certificates,
and the certiflcates, or about that number, were filed in
Benson's offlce, but what were the numbers of the certifi.
cates I cannot say,

Early in the spring of 1873, Robert M. Elgin, spoke

to me about these surveys. We several times discussed the

logation between then and the laast of Aprill or first of May.
I became aware that the Texas & Pacifie Ry. Bill, giving

that road an eighty mile reservation, was before the Legle-
lature, When I informed Robert M., Elgin that he would better
get in his file and let me work as quick as possible, My
recollepotion is that we then discussed the Tile and drew

up one or more, glving a general outline of the country we
wanted to eoverj that we could not make the flile very spe-
eifle on account of meager data, but it was sufficlently




definite to ldentify the ground and so keep others out
of the fleld, and that I would be on the ground so soon
that the actual surveys would subserve all purposes, This
file was hurried to Jackeboro as quickly as possible, I
may have taken it myeelf, but am not certain, and I was
instructed to make the surveye as soon aes I could get the
necessary field notes and working mape from the General
Land Office., This was early in May, The land I was in-
struoted to survey was the land west of the terminus of
the Texae Paclfic Reservation and a block of the International
& Oreat Northern Ry. lands, and west and north of Block 2 and 3,
Houston & Texas Central Ry, and east and north of some old
locations on the Upper Colorade River, which I think were
Blooks Nos, 25 and 26. I understood this to be the land in-
tended to be embraced in the file,

Early in May the application was made by Robert M,
Elgin to me to make the survey of about 500 certificates,
200 of which were embraced in a file made about the same time
and the remainder I understood to be in the surveyor's office
at Jacksboro,

My memory at this perlod of thirty years is indefi-
nite. I have a shadowy recollection that I took the rile
to Jacksboro and flled it in Benson's office, but cannot say.
I have the firm conviection that the filea and certificates
were in the Burveyor's office, but cannot now say how I came
by that eonvietion, whether from seeing them there, or from

evidenoce derived from the ordinary manner of transaeting

businesa. I do not know whether original or ecopy of flle
was ever flled in the General Land Office.
My survey embracing the 500 certificates in Benson's
hands was made from the 15th, of July, to the 4th, or S5th,
of August, 1873.




The deslgnation of the Texas Pacific Reservation,
28 shown on the maps of the General Land Office about the
last of May, or first of June, 1873, 414 not include within
the reservation sections 81, 83, 85, 87, or 89, |

There was no designation on the General Land Of-
fice mape at that date which included eithor sectiona Bb4S,
629, 631, 633, 635, 637, 639, 641 or 643 within any reser-
vatlon. My working maps were made late in May by Land Of-
fice draughtsmen, and the reservation was shown as in the
map attached to the answers of Oso, W, Polk and nartid YEx-
hibit A%,

I know of no ten mile reservation ever being desig-
nated on the maps of the General Land Office, There was a
aixteen mile reservation of which the center, the north and
south lines were designated on the maps of the General Land
Office as far west as the Colorado River, but no further.
At the time the files and surveys of Bloeck 97 were made, I
know of no other reservation being designated on the maps
of that offloe.

DEPOSITION OF THE WITNESS C, C, GIBBS,

I reside in the City of San Antonio and my busi-
ness and my oceupation is that of Land Commigelioner for the
lands originally granted to the Houston & Texas Central
Rallway Company, the Texas & New Orleans Rallroad Company,
the Galveston, Harrisburg & San Antonio Rallway Company,
and the Gull, West Texas & Pacifie Raillway Company.

Yes, I have had conneection with the lande formerly
granted by the State of Texas to the Houston & Texas Central
Rallway Company, as the agent for the cars and sale of same
since January 1, 1889. I have been since that date the




custodian of the records of land titles, archives, eto,,
pertalning to the land grants and lands formerly owned
by the Houston & Texas COentral Railway Company. I am still
the oustodlian of sald records and they are now in the City
of San Antonlo, and z2s atated they are in my charge as
Land Commissioner of the lands originally granted to the
Houston & Texas Central Rallway Company, now the property
of Mr, F. P, Oloots,

All I know about the survey and loeatlon of Block
97 is from the yecords of this department. There were files
made coverling the lands known as Blook 97, coples of whioh
I attach hereto, marked "Exhibit B® and #Exhibit C", The
files are the same that were offered by plaintiff, and dated
May 10th, 1873, and Aug. 5th., 1872. W¥We also have a receipt
from the surveyor of that Surveyor's Distriet, showing that

~ the certificates were received by him. I attach copy of

the original resceipt (marked "Exhibit D") from the surveyor,
the original being in the CGeneral Land Offlce at Austin,

This is the same receipt heretofore offered by defendants.
There i1s also a sketoh showing the location of the lands

in s8aid block attached to the depositions of Mr,., Geo, Y.
Polk, marked "Exhibit A", and which is included as a part

of this anewer, and which sketoh, I understand, was made
from data obtained from the Genersal) Land Office, by Mr, Polk,
Chief Clerk in this office, about the time the files referred
to were made, This map, I believe, ie designated or under-
stood as a "working map® and has been shown to and examined
by Mr. R, M, Eigin and Mr, J, E, Elgin, other witnesses who
have testified in this case, and ildentified by them as the
map referred to. Thle map shows the slxteen mile reservation
as terminating near the Colorado River. (e) The file re-
ferred to, as also the map and sketches, all have reference




to Block 97 and the surveys in question in this sult,

The surveys as shown by the records of this de-
partment, comatituting Bleck 97, are numbered 1 to 956
inelusive, All I ever had to do with these surveys was
a8 Land Commiegeloner of the lands originally granted to
the Houston & Texas Central Railway Compsny and the ous-
todian of the papers in connection therewlith since the
year 1889,

ANSWERS TO CROSS INTTRROGATORIES,

I know nothing personally of the files made or

applications to a Surveyor to survey any of the land known
as constituting Blook 97; I only know what the records of
ny office show as atated in my answers to direct interroga-
tories and by the exhibits attached.

I can give no personal information as to what was
done with the files or applications,

I have attached notice of the files or applieations
and receipt, as stated, marked "Exhibit B", "Exhibit C*, and
"Exhiblt D*, respectively.

I personally know nothing of the file or applieation,
made by Robert M. Elgin to the surveyor of Jack Land Distriot,
W. A. Benson, filed by him in his offilce May 10, 1873, but
have attached coples of same to my answers, marked "Exhibit
B* and "Exhibit O%,

I 4o not know personally whether it 1s a fact or
not that the surveys referred to being the surveys embraced
in plffs petition from 629 to 643 were all located and sur-
veyed by virtue of this file of May 10, 1873. My only knowledpe
i1s what the papers show,

I do not kxnow, but do not think they do lie within
the 1limite of the file as shown by the map attached merked




“Exh1h1E AW,

I cannot say whether or not apnlication wae ever
made to Mr, Benson, or any other surveyor to survey any
lande by virtue of certificates 27/1643, L43/55Lk, U3/5545,
b3/5546, 43/5567 and 43/5725. ALl I know is from the file
or appliecation and reuaipt,ﬁoapiau of whieh are heretc attached,
marked "Exhibit B" and “Exhibit O respeotively, calling for
the ceortificates in question,

I cannot state at what date the appliocations were
made to locate the 300 certificates referred to in Benson's

recelpt. It showe itseelf, I presume, The receipt shows
that the same was in the hands of the surveyor on the 2lst.

day of January, 1873.

1 do not know personally what land was embraced
in the flle referred to and it would require considerable
time and work to make the desoription necessary at this time.

I cannot from personal knowledge say where appli-
eatlon was flled and recorded by the surveyor by whom 1% waa
made, or whether or not the original or a copy thereof was
ever filed in the General Land Offioce, hﬁt the attached ex-
hibits show the original receipt rfiled in the Land Office
and a copy of the original file from the Burveyor's offise
filed in the General Land Office,

The survey was made on Block 97 between July 15th.,
and August 3, 1873, I do not know whether Mr. H.1A. Benson
is now 1living or dead, understand he is dead.

I cannot say where the recordes of his office were
kept by him in 1872, or at this time.

I have never examined the records of the Land Office
in rqgnrd to the deslpgnation of the Texes & Paciflc Reserva-
tion, therefore sannot answer thls question.

I am not sufficiently advised to answer this




51.

question. I presume it would require the records and the
exact date on which the reservation was placed there to
anewer this question, and it would then be but an opinion,
I do not know vhether the central line of the
Memphis, E1 Paso & Pacifie 10 mile reservation and the north
and south lines thereof, were designated on’tha map of the
General Land Office, at the time, or prior to the date of
any of the fileas er nurvey-.nr Blook 97. There was a 16
mile reservation designated on the maps at the time the
survey was made. Block 97 1s shown to lie sast and north
of this reservation., As explanatory, my connection with
this department was not until long after these lands had
been located and surveyed, I succeeded Major Robert M,
Elgin, who had charge and hensce all my knowledge and infor-

mation comes since then,

DEPOSITION OF THE WITNESS GZO, W, POLK,

I reside Lﬁ the City of San Antonlo, Bexar County,
Texas, I am Chief Clerk in the Office of C. C, Gibhs, Land
Agent,

I have been and am now connected with the lands
originally granted by the 8tate of Texas to the Houston &
Texas Central Rallway CGompany. In 1873, I wae employed as
surveyor in making location of sald lande in what was known
at that time as Young Territory; and at thie time as Chief
Clerk in the office of Mr. C, C, Gibbs, Land Agent for Mr.

F. P, Oleott, the owner of sald lands, Mr, C, C, Oibbs,

Land Agent, 1s tﬁa custodian of the former records, land
titles, archives, ete. pertaining to the land grants formerly
owned by the Houston & Texas Central Rallway Company. They
are now in his possession in his office in the City of San
Antonio, Bexar County, Texas. I am Chief Clerk in the office




of Mr, C, C. Gibbs, Land Agent.

In the year 1873, I waa employed as a surveyor

in the loeation of the surveys comprised in Bloek 97, and
know that the survey of this block was mafe on the ground
by myself, Mr, J. E. Elgin, and Mr, Oeo. ¥, Angle, Files
ocovering the lande known as Blook 97 were made by Mr, R, M,
Elgin, formerly Land Commisasioner of the Houston & Texas
Central Rallway Company, both verbally and in writing, to
Mr. J. E. Elgin, as Deputy Surveyor, Conies of these files
are attached to the depositions of Mr, C, ¢, Gilbbs, marked
"Exhibit B and "Exhibit O' and ere made & part of this answer,
The originals are on file in the General Land Office. The
surveys embraced in theses files sare those now embraced in
Block 97, and are rnumbered from 1 to 956, inclusive, I ate
tach hereto a sketoh showing theae lands and mark the same
"Exhibit A, |

The surveys which constituted Block 97, made in the
name of the Houston & Texas Central Rallway Company are nume
bered 1 to 956, inclueive., I was connected with the survey
of this block as a surveyor, and assisted in running some of
the 1lines thereof,

I surveyed some of these lands upon the ground, A
portion of the party with which I was connected in making
these surveys, was organized at San Antonio, and a portion
was organized at ¥Waco, The maln body of the surveying expe-
dition started direct from San Antonio to San Saba, Texas,
and were to join the party from Waco at or near the mouth of
the Conoho river, but the junotion was made on Elm Creek, at
erossing of the old Fort Chadbourne and the Camp Colorado
Roads. The party consisted of about 35 men, with four or
five ox teame. Some of the men were mounted, In this manner
the party wes transported to the territory embraced in the




original Block 97. Meane of transportation in those days
was altogether by wagon and horseback, The gountry was une
gettled, We left San Saba on June 19, 1873; travelsd scross
ecountry and reached the mouth of the Concho river on June 24,
1873; crossed the Colorado River and joined the Waco party
on Elm Creek at the orcssing of the Ft, Chadbourne and Camp
Colorado roade, The party was supplied with eketches fur.
nished from the Land Offige, I do not know where those maps
and sketehes are at this time, I do not know when the reser-
vation was placed upon the Land Office map. I can give no
information aer to vhen the Reservation lines were marked upon
the maps, or by whom,

The file referred to as having been made by J. H.
Dinkens was made at the instance, as I underetand, of Mr, R, M,
Elgin, the Land Commissaioner st that time, I know nothing
personally about the receipt purporting to be signed by W. A.
Benson, Copy of same is attached to Mr, Gibbs' depositions,
marked "Exhibit D",

There were flles and applications made by Mr. R, M,
Elgin to Mr, J. E, Elgin, District Surveyor, but I cannot

asecertain whether or not the certificstes mentioned in Benson's
receipt were included in the applioation and do net know where
to look for i1t. The objeet and purpose of this applieation,

a8 I understand 1t, wee to hold thie unappropriated publie
domein te be located and surveyed by virtue of the sertificates
referred to,

Besldes myself, the party was in charge of Mr. Geo,
¥. Angle and Mr, J. E. Elgin, who assisted in msking the sur-
veys. The survey of Blook 97 was commenced on July 15, 1873,
the surveying party being divided into three subdlivisione, one
in charge of Mr, Angle, and one in charge of Mr, Elgin, and
one in charge of myself, there being poractically three parties
in making the surveys, We commenced work on Block 97 on
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July 15, 1873, and completed the survey on or about the 3d.
day of August. Field notes, maps, sketohes, and other data
were prepared, Fleld notes were all prepared and filed in
the General Land Office. There is & map on file in the office
of Mr, C. O, Gibba, from which the fleld notes were prepared,
copy of which map is attached hereto, marked "Exhibit AW,
The rield notes I think were returned to the Land Office some
time in the month of Hovember, 1873.

I do not know, nor have I any means of ascertaining

how the reservation was designated on the maps of the General

Land Office, The map referred to as "Exhibit A" wae complled
from working maps obtained from the General Land Office. I
am unable to say from what point the projections on these work-
ing mape were made,

The ordinary magnetic compass was used in making
this survey, lo allowance was made for divergence or cone
vergence of lines. I do not know how the deslignation of the
reservation ecould have been made on the maps at that time
#ith any certainty from data aceessible in the General Land
Office.

I do not know how mugh of Block §7 was actually
surveyed upon the ground before the reservation went into
effect, After making the survey, the notes were not made
up until some time during the month of Hovember, 1873,

At the time these surveys were made, the country
was absolutely unsettled and the facilitles for dnxnstﬁhl
work properly were not good, I ean say nothing in respect
to the Surveyor's Offices and records for the care of data
in these offices, as I never visited them,

ANSWERS TO CROSS INTERROGATORIES,

The appliecation to survey the lands embraced in
Block 97 was made verbally and in writing. It was made by
Mr, R, M. Elgin, rorﬁ:r Lend ﬂommiualnnﬁr of the Aouston &




Yexas Central Rallway Company, I do not know the dste of
the application, The application was mede to J. E, Elgin,
e Deputy Surveyor of Jaock Land Distriet. It included all
the unappropriated publie domain 1ying between Blocks 2, 3,
and 25 of the Houston & Texas Central Rallway Co., running
northwest for quantity. I am unable to give the field notes,
I am unable %o glve the nunbers of the certificates it covered.
There was turned over to the Surveyor 500 certificatess. He
had previous to that 300 certificates turned over to Mr, Benson,
Surveyor, He also had 200 certificates filed May 10, 1873,
whioh file will give.thn numbers, He also had certificates
1601 o 1640, inclusive.
I am unable to say what became of the original file,
but presume 1t is on file in the General Land Office,
. Cooy of this file is attached to the interrogatories
of Mr, Gibbs and Mr, Elgin,

The file or application made by Mr., Robert M, Elgin
to the surveyor of Jaek Land Distriet is the same referred to
in Cross Interrogatorics 2 and 1.

The records of Mr., Gibbs' office show that ﬁhn cor-
tifiestes mentloned in these interrogatories covering surveys
629, 631, €33, 635, 637, 639, 641 and 643, were surveyed by
virtue of this file, and the application made to J, E. Elgin,
Deputy Surveyor, :

The land coversd by the certificates mentioned in
the laat intarrogatery, wae not considered as lying without
the file mentioned., The file covered all unappropriated publie
domain that would come within the limits of 1ts area. The
land covered by these certificates was unlocated at the time,
and 1% was the intention of the parties meking the file to

embrace 1t therein, and it wae go looated and surveyed.
The oertificates mentioned in these interrogatories
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were among those turned over te Mr, J. E. Elgin, Deputy Sur-
veyer, to be located in territory embraced in Bleoek 97.

Application was made to J. E, Elgin, as heretofore
stated, It was made some time in May, 1873. It embraced
£ll the land occupled by Block 97, The survey and loeation
was made by Geo., W, Angle, J, E, Elgin and myself, between
July 15, 1873, and Auguet 3, 1873. The certifieates which
were surveyed and embraced in this flle, are referred to in
ny answer to the lat. uroii interrogatory.

I have stated heretofore that the application was
made Verbally and in writing by R, M. Elgin to J, M, Elgin,
sometime in May, 1873.

The lande embraced in the file referred to were
sltuated between Blooks 2 and 3, and north and west,

I have no means of ascertaining whether or not the
file or application was recorded in the surveyor's office, or
whether or not it was ever filed in the General Land Office,

Survey of Block 97 was made between July 15, 1873
and August 3, 1873,

I 46 not know whether Mr, W, A. Benson is living or
dead,

I do not know where the records of this office were
kept by him in 1872 or 1873, or at this time.

The General Land Office maps showed that the reser-
vation of the Texas & Paocific Railway known ae the 16 mile
reservation® ended at the Colorado River, The surveys of
Bloek 97 were made weat of the reservation and were not ine

cluded therein., There was no designation made on the mep at
that time that would inelude within the reservation Sections
81, 83, 85, 87 and B9,

The designation of the Texas & Pacific Reservation
referred to in the preceding answer would not include Sections
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k5, 629, 631, 633, 637, 639, 6h1, =na 643,

The center and the north and the south line of the
#16 mile reservation® referred to in answer to the 15th, oross
interrogatory were desipgnated on the maps of the General Land
Offlce at the time and prior to the date of the filee of sur-
veys Blook 97. fThis rescrvation as stated terminated at the
Colorado River, and Blogk 97 waa surveyed west thereof,

DEPCSITIONS OF WITHESS R. M, ELGIN,

I reside in Houstor, Harris County, Texas, and am
engaged in the printing and stationery busineess, I was con-
nected with the lands of the Houstor & Texas Central Rallway
Company from the year 1866 to 1891, was Land Agent for the
company from 1866 to 1882, 0, C, Gibba is the present ous-
todlan of the archives, I have no connection with them what-
ever., In the latter part of the year 1872 and early in 1873
J. E, Elgin, a deputy surveyor of Jack Land District surveyed
for sald Company two Blooks of land Nos., 2 and 3 esst of Block
97 and other land on the waters of the Qolorade, I had a
large number of 1§nd certificates to be located and the only
fields where sufficient vacant lands could be found were
beyond the settled portions of the gtate, vas infeated by
hostile Indians and was almost terra 1nﬂugn1tn, In disoussing
the questlon of making loeation with him I learned that there

Was probably a large body of good land west of sald Blocks Nos,
2 and 3, I acoordingly contracted with said J, E, Flgin as

deputy surveyor to survsy 500 certificates and nointed sut

the body of land 1lying west of salid block and eaat of Blogk

25 and 26, H, & T, C. Rallroad Company and a sufficient number
of certificates were plagced in his hands or at hie disposal.

to fill the contract. The certificates were all issued to

the Houston & Texas Central Rallway Company and the transaetion
was made by me as the Land igunt of nald Company about the




lat, of May, 1873, exact date not remembered. The appli-
cation was made directly to the deputy surveyor verbally.

But to prevent some other deputy from going into the aame
territory it was supplemented by a written file. I believe
the file dated May 10th, 1873, a eopy of which has been shown
me anﬂxtl hereto attached marked Exhibit A is the file to
‘which I allude. ey

To the beat of my bellef now and at the time the
file wae made none of it is embraced in the 16 mile reserva-
tion of the Memphis, E1l Paso & Pacific R. R. Co, as shown
upon the maps in the General Land Office at that time., I have
geen a map on file in the office of C. C, Gibbs which I recog-
nized as the map of Bloek 96 from which the field notes were
made and which was therefore called the working map, a copy
of whieh will be made and attached to the interrogatories,
That map shows the 16 mile reservation as terminating near
the Colorado River as shown by the map in the General Land
Office at that time, The Bloeck contalns 966 surveys numbered
eonsecutively from 1 to 966 inoclusive,

I was the Land Agent, sometimes called the Land Com-
missloner of H, & T. C, R, R, Co, and the head of the Land
Department., The logations were made by me and the surveys
under my supervision so far ll-ﬂli consistent. I did no%
survey the land, was not with the surveying party at any time
during the survey. I only made the flle, received the fleld
notes from the surveyors and completed and filed them in the

General Land Office., I do not remember from what pointe the
entire party started., J. E. Elgin with a part of the outfit
started from Waco. They had maps from the General Land Office

of surveys supposed to be contigucus aid perhaps some 1ittle
data from the Distriet Land Office at Jacksboro. I do not
know what route they traveled; there were no direct roads




to the point of destination and much of the way was perhaps
without any road., My advice was to take as few horsee as
they could get along with, but to take ox wagonse and burros,
as oxen and asses would offer less temptation to attachs and
trouble with the Indiane, The only means of transportation was
by private conveyance, as wagons, herses, and burros, It was
about a month's travel by ox team, They had some mn.pl.l.‘hd.
sketches from the Land Office. I do not know where they are
now} were probably worn out by the time the work was completed,

There have been geveral regervations, I cannot tell
when any of them was marked on the maps of the Land Office,
I never saw the reservation created by the Acte of 1873 on any
np until after these surveys were made. The surveyors would
not have seen or known o it until after they werzs made, for
they lef't the settlements belore or about the time of the pas-
sage of the aot eoreating it and had no communication with the
elvilized world until August 1873, I do not now remember when
I first saw it and have ne information as to when, how or by
vhom 1t was designated or whether it was designated on the
map more than once, J. H, Dinkins to whom that receipt was
given was in my offlice and employed while I was Land Agent
of the H, & T, €. Ry. Co, and the certifigates mentioned
therein were filed in the surveyors office for me and by my
instructions, \

In answer to the third thtm I allude to
the wild and unknown charsoter of the country in which it
was negessary to locate land certificates at that time. Bo
1ittle was known of the vagant territory that it was not only
impraoticable but impoesible %o make a file desoribing minutely
and particularly any tract of land. A flle or looation, iIf
made at all, could nrhl:f be general in the deseription, begause
no one could deseribe the land of which he knew nothing. BSo
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the seleotion of the land andi the making of the surveys had
to be entrusted in a great measure to the surveyor or loecator
on the ground., A surveyor could not make a survey without

& certificate, but he could without = written file; but no
surveyor carried papers of such value as land certificates
with him on a surveying expedition where they would be exposed
to destruction by the weather, loss or other casualty, but

he would leave them in his office or other safe place. The
certificates mentioned in that receipt were filed in the sur-
veyors offlce to cover surveys to be made by deputies in the
field. I do not recolleot partioularly, but believe that
these certificates and some others were left under the par-
ticular control of J, E, Elgin and that it was understood so
at the time I state this from the faot that some of them were
used by him o n & block of surveys made previous to Bloek 96
and the remainder in it, I do not know that there was any

written appliecation or file calling for these numbers, but

they were subject to the use of the surveyor and if a written

file or designation required more certificates to rill it

than were named in the file the surveyor could use these to

complete 1%, I believe this 1s plainly the object and pur-

poae of the receipt, There were also other certificstes in

the surveyors office or in J. E. Elgin's hands for a like

purpose, among them a certificate No. 27/1640. I was not

with the surveying party and do not remember who was in the

partyexcept those above, J, E. Elgin, 0. W, Angle, and G, W,

Polk, nor what eagh one surveyed. Do not remember how long

it teok them to do the work, The field notes were filed by

me in the Land Office on the i8th. of November, 1873,

The first designation filed was that of the original

 Southern Pacific Rallroad, under the Aot of August, 1856, which

reserved the vascant lands within 2 degrees of latitude across
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the S8tate, I was chief clerk in the General Land Offics
when it was filed and placed the file mark on it. I ean

only speak of it from memory as I have not gsen 4t for years,
but circumstances impress it on my mind. It was =2 long map
geveral yards long with one stralght line running from the
Rlo Crande River to about where the Esst line of Taylor County
new 1e, representing the 32nd, parallel of latitude, which

is deslignated as a center line of the reservation, Going
eaet from this point it took a diregtion a 1little north of
east and I do not now remember its course. There were lines
erossing thie at regulsr intervals representing the 100, 101,
102 and 103 degrees of longitude. El Paso which was repre-
gented a few milesg south of the line of Fort Phantom Hill
which wae represented on its vhole length from the ﬁio Grande
to the Clear Fork of the Brazos. The reservation was firet
designated on the map in the General Land Office from this
map, My understanding has always been that the location of
the 32nd, parallel of latitude and the 100th, meridian of
longitude was obtalned from cbeservations taken by the United
Btates Army officers at Fort Phantom Hill and from that point
the projections were made, I probably got that impression
from the facte that while conneeted with the General Land
Office from 1848 to 1865 I never hesrd of any observations
being taken to establish the latitude and longiltude in the
interior of Texas, except that taken &t Phantom Hill, I do
not know that that observation was ever flled in the land of-
fice, but from conversation with Mr, C, ¥, Pressler, Chief
Draughteman in the Land Offlee, I know thst he used it in
ecompiling his map of Texas, According to late maps of Texas,
it looks to me that the 32nd, parallel ie at least 10 miles
further south than the designetion would place it, showing
the unrelliabllity of the designation in =2n astronemical peint




of view at least, The center line of this reservation was
supposed to be on the 92nd. degree of latitude and was the
basis of the later reservation., The next reservation was

the 156 mile reservation of the Memphig, Tl Paso & Pacific
Rallroad. It was intended or asupposed to follow the 1line

of the 32nd. parallel of latitude from about where the east
line of Taylor County crosses it. At the time these surveys

- wore made there had been designation of it west of a2 point
Just beyond the Coloradoe River so far as I know or believe,
Field notes of a eurvey of the center line were filed in the
Land Offlce about the year 1860. I cannot say ecertainly about
the year as I have nothing to show and there was nothing to
pieture 1t on my memory., The survey I think purported to
extend from the east boundary of the State, not a great way
from where Texarkansa now 18, to a point weet of and neay the
Colorado River within a mile or two of where the town of Colo-
rado, Mitohell County, ie now represented., I was not connected
with the Land Office when the reservation of 1873, known as
the 40 mile reservation was made and do not know how or when
1t was designated or represented on the map,

The ordinsry surveyor's compase and chein were used
in making these surveys and no allowange was made for the
convergence or divergence of meriddlian lines. I de not think
there was any data on flle in the General Land Office at that
time. I never heard of amy observations that would Justify it.

I have no data by which to tell how much of the
block was actually sruveyed; three compasses were run in sur-
veying 1t and they had the meang of checking each other, From
their reports they ran lines enough where streams and other
local objects were to be found to make the landmarks to identify
the survey with reasonable faollity. On smooth prairie desti-

tute of natural or artifielsl landmarks, it was usual to leave
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the running or dividing lines and getting corner for a future
survey when 1t could be done with more safety.

It took about two months to draw the map, make
out fleld notes, take them to Jackeboro, have them regorded
and returned to the General Land Offiece, According to the
resords of the office of Mr, Gibbs, I filed ths field notes
and esrtifioates in the Land Office on 18th, of Hovember, 1873.

In my answer to the firet and fifth interrogatories
I have mentioned the wild and unsettled gondition of the gountry.
The ocountry weet of Coleman, Callzhan, and Sheckleford Counties
vas entirely uninhabited, execept by hostile Indisna, It was
perilous to zo aven with a large working party into the country
and sustensnce for a long pericd oould not be carried, The
surveycr had to carry his fire arme as well as his compass
snd keep a vigllant look out rfor Indlans as well as landmarka,
The surveyor's offices were kept in a very primitive atyla
and the loecator and surveyors had to depend for mapns prinsl-
pally on coples from the General Land 0ffice. Railroad Land
Certificates were located and surveyed in large bodies and
the number of certificates belonging to & particular company
would be counted and 1ittle attention given te their several
nunbers, not much more in fact than is now given to the nume
bers on bank notes. If a hundred certificates were put in
a deputy'e hands to survey helf of them in one place it made
no difference to anybody whether he uszed the lowest or higheet
numbers, and it so hnppuﬁnd that sometimes when vartieular
numbers were mentioned in making a file, other numbers would
be ueed in making out the fleld notes and those mentioned in
the file used for different sections and never noticed, one
velld land certificate issued to a company wes as good for
640 ascres as another,
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ANSWERS OF R. M, ELGIN TO THE CROSS INTERROGATORIES,
In my answer to interrogatory third I stated that
I made a vurﬁnl applieation to survey the land now known ae
block 797 which wap supplemented by & written file, It was
mede by me. I do not remember the dates of the original
epplioation., It was about the lst. of May, 1873, It was
made to J. E, Elgin, Deputy Surveyor of Jack Land Distriect.

| It embraced the vacant land between blocks 2 and 3 and bloek

25 of the H. & T, 0. Ry. Co. running north and west indefi-
nitﬁlr for quantity. I have not got the field notes. I
placed at the dlsposal of the surveyor 500 gertifiocates,
I cannot from memory or the limited data in my possession
undertake to name every one of the 500 with the corresponding
survey. He hed subjeot to his control the 300 certificates
mentioned in Benson's receipt, contained in the sixth intor-
rogatory to vhich I refer for the numbera, He had the 200
certificates mentloned in the file dated May 10th. 1873, to
which reference is made for numbers, besides these he had
An his hande or in the surveyor's office U0 certiricates
numbered from 1601 to 1640.

To second Orose Interrogatory he answeras!

I do not know what became of the originsl Tile.
The copy hereto attached seems to indleate that the file in
the General Land Office is only = copy.

To the Third Cross Interrogatory he answers

It ie here attached merked *Exhibit A",

To the Pourth Cross Interrogatory he angwere}

That 1= the document to which I refer in my answers
to the last two eross interrogatories,

To the FAfth Oross Interrogatory he answersie

They were swrveyed by virtue of this file in cone

nectlon with verbal application made to the Deputy Surveyor.




To the Sixth Oross Interrogatory he answersi

In the lights in which the files and surveys were
made, the condition surrounding the surveyor and the loce-
tien, 1t 18 not, In & large irregular body of land 500 miles
@ietant that he hed never seen and most of whieh had never
been trodden by the foot of eivilized man, 1t 1s not resson-
able to u:;:pmnt 2 mﬂ-rw to run 1t out with presision and
exactness, No man at that day who knew anything about sur-
veying on the frontler would have expected such a thing.
Files whether written or verbal wers necessarily construed
to be in & grest measure merely supgestive and the surveyor
wae ocowpelled to use discretion and allowed great latitude,
From three to five per cent is allowed as reasonably excoss
or deficlt Lln a survey carefully made by compass and shain,
Certalnly much more latitude is reasonable in a file made
at randem or by aconjecture.

To Beventh Oross Interrogatory he snswers:

There were among the certifioates placed in the
 hands of J. E. Hlgin, deputy surveyor, to De used in surveying
the lend inoluded in block No, 97, as stated in my snswer %o
direct interrogatory third and the first oross irnterrogatory.

To the Elghth Cross Interrcgatory I have stated
to whom it was mede, when made, what land was embraced in the
file. My answer to the seventh direct interrogatory states
what I know a2 to the making of the surveys and when made}
and in my answer to the first oross intsrrogatery I state
what certificates were filed by me.

To the Ninth Orose Interrogatory he answers:

In my answer to direct iaterrogstory one and six
I have given the facte as to the 300 certificates, named in
the receipt. It was made verbally by me to J. E. Elgin,
Deputy Surveyor, about May lst. 1871,




To the Tenth Uross Interrogatory he anaversi-

Ho very definite desoription was given. It wae
not poeslble to do so from the knowledge we had of the
eountry whioh was uninhabited. The maln ides was to take
up the vacant land betwssn blocks two and three, Ws had
no meang of hnowing the distance between those blocks and had
to estlmate Lt frox saoh wasertain information as was at hand,

As stated in snswers to direet interrogatories,
the verbal file was supplemented by the written file haveto
attaghed, which 18 certifled as belng recorded and n ocopy
filed in the Ceneral Land O0ffice, The whole flle was of such
noetoriety that no locator trespassed upon it until long after
it was perfected by survey and recorded fleld nctes, The
exact date I cannot give but was in July, 1873, may have been
commpenced in June,

Burveysd in 1873 under flle of thres hundred cer-
tiflcates deseribed in Benson's rscelipt,

To the Thirteenth erogs interrogatory hs snavers:

I do not know. Vhen I last heard Denson which was
many years ago he was old, infirm and totally blind,

Yee, The 16 mile reservation according te the
ruling of the General Land Office for yesrs before the surveys
were made terminated nesr the Oolorado River and was so narked
upon the map, The surveys being weast of that point no% ine

cluded in 1%, That ruling was never reversed hn;afn these
surveys were made tc the best of my knowlisdge anﬁ beliel and

1 was pretiy conversant with the Land Offise afTalra up Lo
that time.

My last answer would apoly also to seotions 445, 629,
631, 633, 635, 637, 639, and 643 as to their being within the
16 mile reservation, I have no map in my posseasion showing
it and have no recollection of its position in referencs to




any partioulat survey. I presume that the 16 mile survey
is referred to, as I know of no 10 mile reservation, It is
a faot that the 16 mile reservation was designated ae far
west ag the (Uoloradoe River but not weat of that point, and
such was noted on the maps in the General Land OfTice before

those surveys were made,

ERNESBSBT VONAROSENBERG, a witneas
for defendants, belng sworn, testified as followei-

My position iz that of draughteman in the General
Land Office} I have held 4% since January 1, 1876. I think
I am familisr with the records of the Land Office, My business
is that of complling and examining olerk, I know the Texas &

Paoifle reservation as the maps show it, The only map I know

of in the General Land Office showing the date when the Texas
& Pacifio reservation wan delineated is this msp of Young
territory, dated June 1877; that wae compiled by Mr. Xloppenbach.
Tha_mapl of the offlce are complled from the field notes and
connecting lines returned to the office. The lines conatantly
change, After the country ls settled up it uhnwu'nonflintl
with the old maps aOnaidnrnhlf. sometimes, This map 18 noet in
use in the Land Office now, and has nuf been since about 1875
or 1876. I think 1876, There is nothing on it to lﬁuw when
the reservation was placed on it, the date when the rulrrfntinn
was placed on 1:, The map was not in use until after June,
1873. I know by experience in compiling mapse; a map 18 not

in publiec use until it is finished, and that was in June, 1873,
I mean to say it was not in public use until it was finished.

I could not tell the time thie was put on, I could not testify
to that at all} ecan only say the map was first put in use in
June, 1873. Cannot tell from the rulings of the map whether

it was placed over an old map. There are surveys put on this




map put on since its making. These were put onj Bloek

No. Bouthern Paecific Ry, Co.,- this was put on; and
Blogk No, 2, they were all put on after the map was madej
and survey lo, 5 and H, F, was put on later than this, and
Blogk D, These boundaries of counties were put on afterwards-
the rallnvﬁlintlf Blook B, T. & P, Ry. Co. was put on by
Mr. Kloppenbagh. As near as I can remember the Texas &
Pagoific reservation was coreated in May, 1873, I had two
brothers who followed this occupation who left Austin July
6th, 1873; they were out six monthas surveying the T. & P,
lands,

Q. Look at this red line and say why 1t is over
the black.

Plaintiff objects because the Court can see it as
well as the witness. Objection is sustained.

Counsel for defendants: My objeot is to show by
date of the surveys that the map could not have been made

" at the time.

The Court: It is immaterial as to when the Texas &
Pacific reservation was actually delineated on the map.

Counsel for Defendants: I take the position that
the aot of the Leglislature was inoperative until this gondition
was compllied with,

The Court: I fall at this time to see the materiali-
ty of the testimony as to when it was placed on the map, The
witness can only teatify as to the dates of those under the
line. To the actlon of the Court sustaining sald objection,
defendants then and there excepted and tender this their bill.

Continuing the witness testified: HNo, there 1is

nothing on the map to show the date, The map of Taylor only
shows the 16 mile reservation of the Memphis, El Paso & Paoifie.
The different red lines are the 100th. meridian., The 100th.




meridian 1s the east boundary., Lands in the east boundary
of the Taylor County map on the east boundary of the reser-
vation, aceording to the Taylor County map are west of the
100th, meridian, The north line of the 80 mile reservation

would exteni far enough to ineclude themi it is west of the
100th, meridian, being the east boundary of the 80 mile reser-

vation. They oceoupy the same place they occupled all the time
on the map, execept I think there are two changes. Distance
in the changes are about two miles,

Survey made of the land embraced in that map, made
of that block and returned to the Land Office was re-surveyed
in 1888, or somewhere along there, 1887, 1888 or 1889. About
that time the State had appointed Mr. Chalk to go with the
surveyor appolnted by the owners of the block and had to go
with him to olassify and see how they were examined, When
the surveys were not patented the excess was given to the
school seotions. That is what you eall a bloek of gurveys on
that map. Heavy black lines all around indiocate block lines,

CROBS EXAMINATION,

I d41d not go into the Land Office until 1876, Janue
ary lst. My brothers started out July 6, 1873 to survey the
Texas & Pacific blocke; they were chainmen and flagmen under
the employ of the railroad., Thet left Austin July 6; they
stopped at Phantom Hill and went west to the Colorade river
to what is now Martin and Howard Counties; they went for the
purpose of seotionizing the B0 mile reservation.

RE-EXAMINATION,

No; they went by way of Fort Concho overland. One
of my brothers is here; he was one of the chainmen; the other
one is away.

The Court admitted the speclal acts in evidence of
1856, incorporating the Memphis, El Paso & Pacifie Rallway Co.




and other special acte relating to the matter of this sult,
ineluding Rallroasd Charters, land grants, ete.
The witness further testified that Blook D, notes
on sald map, was returned November 23, 1872; Washington
County was returned Feb, 8, 1873; H, & T. 0, surveys Nos, 1
and 2, Blk, #2 were returned Feb, 12, 1873; block E. of the
“ H, & 0, N, was returned Aug. 9, 18733 bloek 2, H, & G, N, was
returned Aug. 9, 1873} Bouthern Pacific SBurvey Ho. 3, Bloeck No.
1, was returned Oot, 26, 1863; H, & G, N, survey NHo. 17 and
18, Bloek No. 7, were returned Oct, 6, 1873; Southern Pagific
surveys No. 2, 3, and 4 Block No, 3, were returned Oct, 26,
1873; H, & T, C, survey Block L was returned Jnﬁ. 7, 1874;
that these all appear plotted on sald map, some of which were
surveyed and field notes returned and filed in the General
5 Lend Office, as atated, prior to the date when sald map pur-
ports to have been mnﬁu: and the balanoe returned plotted
thereupon long after its date, It cannot be told from an
inspeotion of the map when the reservation was designated
thereupon,

The foregoing statement of faots has been fully
examined and the esame hnntnini all the material testimony
introduced in evidence on the trial of the ease, and hereto
signed and agreed as such statement of facts and approved
by the Couprt,

T. 8, Re e g o,
Attorneys for Plaintiff,
T, D. Cobb, Askby 8., James,
C. R, Einchen,

Attorneys for Defendants.

The foregoing Statement of Facts examined by me
70, this 18th., day of December, A, D, 1902, with the following




gualifications of nli bills of exception therein contained
relating to the introduction by plff. of maps or coples of
maps from the General Land Office, viz: It conclusively
appeared from the map introduced by defendants in evidence
in conneotlion with the testimony of the witnesses Polk, J, E.
Elgin and R, M, Elgin, and stated by Polk and J, E. Elgin
to be a copy of a working sketch used by them in making the
surveys in question, that all of the 14 sections of land
in eontrovérsy were within the Texas and Pacific elghty
mile reservation,
R.L. PENN,
Judpge.
(Endorsed) No, 17090. The State of Texas va,
F. P, Olcott et al. Agreed Statement of Facts. Filed Dec, 18,
1902. Jas. P, Hart, Olerk,
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